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Attorneys for Kamille Dean

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

COMMISSION, CASE NO.: 2:22-¢v-0612-CDS-EJY
Plaintiff,
V. NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR
MATTHEW WADE BEASLEY, et al., LEAVE TO FILE INTERPLEADER
ACTION
Defendants.

THE JUDD IRREVOCABLE TRUST, et al.,
Relief Defendants.

Non-Party KAMILLE DEAN (Ms. Dean), by and through her attorneys of record, the law
firm of JONES LOVELOCK, hereby submits this Reply in Support of her Motion for Leave to File
Interpleader (Dkt. 259) (“Motion to File Interpleader”) pursuant to 38 U.S.C. Section 959(a).! This
Reply is based upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the papers and pleadings

on file in this matter, the attached exhibits, and any oral argument that the Court may allow.

! Along with Ms. Dean’s Motion to Quash Jurisdiction Over Kamille Dean and The Receiver’s August 1, 2022 OSC Re
Contempt and Turn Over Order (Dkt.257), Motion to Strike Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternatively Motion for
Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 258), and Objection to Affidavits of K. Hendricks and D. Zaro (Dkt. 260), these Motions
and related Replies serve as a complete response to the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternatively Motion for Order
to Show Cause (Dkt. 210).
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I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT MS. DEAN’S MOTION TO FILE INTERPLEADER
TO RESOLVE THE NUMEROUS ISSUES OF OWNERSHIP AND COMPETING
DEMANDS REGARDING THE FUNDS HELD IN HER TRUST ACCOUNT.

A. The Receiver Does Not Have Jurisdiction Over Ms. Dean or the Funds at Issue,
and Thus Has No Basis to Pursue This Summary Proceeding.

As discussed in further detail in Ms. Dean’s Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction
(Dkt. 295) the Receiver has failed to establish jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or her retainer funds.? 28
U.S.C. § 754 requires the Receiver to file copies of the complaint and such order of appointment in
the district court for each district in which property is located” within 10 days of appointment.> “The
failure to file such copies in any district shall divest the receiver of jurisdiction and control over
all such property in that district.*

The Receiver bears the burden of establishing personal jurisdiction over Ms. Dean and the
funds at issue.” The Receiver has not, and cannot, meet this burden. Here, the Receiver was
appointed on June 3, 2022.% To establish jurisdiction over the funds at issue, the Receiver was
required to file the Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona no later than June 13, 2022. The
Receiver admits that he failed to do so. Therefore, the Receiver did not establish jurisdiction over
Ms. Dean or the funds at issue at that time. The Receiver argues that the 10-day timeframe was reset
upon filing of the Order Amending Receivership Order on July 28, 2022 (Dkt. 207), and notice was

timely filed in Arizona on August 5, 2022. This position is erroneous. An Order Amending Order

2 See Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction (Dkt. 295). The arguments set forth in Sections 1.A-B are
incorporated herein by reference. Additionally, the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for Order to
Show Cause (Dkt. 210) requests that Kamille Dean, individually, turn over $210,060 in funds. However, Ms. Dean does
not personally possess these funds. Rather, these funds were provided to the Law Offices of Kamille Dean, P.C.’s Trust
Account and the Retainer Agreement was entered into by the Law Offices of Kamille Dean, P.C. The wrong party has
been named.

328 US.C. § 754
4 Id. (emphasis added).

SHE.B., LLCv. Walker, 437 P.3d 1060 (Nev. 2019); Sinatra v. Nat’l Enquirer, Inc., 854 F.2d 1191, 1194 (9th Cir. 1988)
citing Cubbage v. Merchent, 744 F.2d 665, 667 (9th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1005, 84 L. Ed. 2d 380, 105 S. Ct.
1359 (1985). “Once a defendant raises the defense, the burden falls on the plaintiff to prove sufficient facts to establish
that jurisdiction is proper. Boschetto v. Hansing, 539 F.3d 1011, 1015 (9th Cir. 2008).

¢ Ord. Appointing Receiver (Dkt. 88).
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Appointing Receiver does not reset the 10-day timeframe, only a reappointment does that.” No such
reappointment order exists in this case.

Even if the Order Amending Receivership Order restarted the 10-day clock, the Receiver’s
position still fails for two (2) reasons. First, the Receiver filed the Motion to Compel or Alternative
Motion for Order to Show Cause on August 1, 2022, prior to the August 5, 2022 filing of the
Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona.® Therefore, at the time of the Receiver’s filing, the
Receiver had not complied with § 754 and did not have jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at
issue herein. Second, the Receiver did not file the Order Amending Receivership Order in Arizona,
but rather the original June 3, 2022 Order Appointing Receiver.” Again the Receiver failed to comply
with § 754 and was divested of jurisdiction. The Receiver has not established personal jurisdiction

over Ms. Dean to haul her into this summary proceeding.!® Absent a showing of jurisdiction, the

"SEC v. Am. Cap. Invest., 98 F.3d 1133, 1143 (9th Cir. 1996), citing SEC v. Vision Comm ’ns, Inc., 315 U.S. App. D.C.
384, 74 F.3d 287, 291 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (the Court held that the entry of a receiver’s permanent appointment after his
initial temporary appointment reestablished the receiver’s jurisdiction and set a new 10-day period). The distinction
between an Order Amending Receivership, as was filed here, and a reappointment is critical, as reappointment — not
amendment — resets the ten-day clock. See Terry v. Walker, 369 F. Supp. 2d 818, 820 (W.D. Va. 2005) ((an order of
reappointment renews the ten-day filing deadline under 28 U.S.C. section 754); Warfield v. Arpe, 2007 WL 549467, at
*12 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 22, 2007) (with the court found that timely filing of the necessary documents after a receiver’s
reappointment complies with § 754); FTC v. Digital Altitude, LLC., 2019 WL 5290384 (C.D. Cal. May 31, 2019)
(Motion to Reappoint Receiver following failure to comply with § 754); SEC v. Arisbank, Case No. 18 V 0186, Docket
No. 21 (N.D. Tex. Apr 3, 2018)( Order Granting Motion for Reappointment). Moreover, the standards for reappointment
differ from the standards for an Amendment. 28 U.S.C. § 3103; Fed. R. Civ. P. 66, Canada Life Assur. Co. v. LaPeter,
563 F.3d 837, 844 (9th Cir. 2009) (setting for specific requirements for appointment).

8 See Mot. to Compel or Alt. Mot. for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210).
% Ex. A, Arizona filing of Complaint and Appointment Order.

10 See Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction (Dkt. 295), Section I.B. “There is a substantial body of law to
the effect that a receivership court does not have jurisdiction to bring into a pending receivership proceeding by a mere
order to show cause persons who are not parties to the receivership and who assert an independent claim of ownership to
assets in their possession. In Gillespie v. California Standard Ind. Co., 212 Cal. App. 3d 1351, 1357-58 (1989) (internal
citations omitted), the court held: “There is a substantial body of law to the effect that a receivership court does not have
jurisdiction to bring into a pending receivership proceeding by a mere order to show cause persons who are not parties
to the receivership and who assert an independent claim of ownership to assets in their possession.” The Receiver also
relies on Chicago Title & Trust Co. v. Fox Theatres Corp., 69 F.2d 60, 61 (2d Cir. 1934), for the preposition that a federal
court presiding over a fiduciary estate enjoys exclusive jurisdiction over the estate and “[t]he appointment of an equity
receiver . . . draws to the appointing court jurisdiction to decide all questions of the preservation, collection, and
distribution of its assets.” This reliance is misplaced. First, It is axiomatic that the Receiver cannot have exclusive
jurisdiction over something for which he has not established any jurisdiction. Further, Chicago Title establishes that a
receivership does not have complete authority over all assets, or collection or distribution of the same.
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Receiver cannot establish the funds at issue belong to the receivership estate.

B. Summary Proceedings Cannot Resolve the Competing Ownership Claims
Regarding Ms. Dean’s Retainer Funds.

1. The Interpleader is necessary as a plenary proceeding.

In United States v. Arizona Fuels Corp., the Ninth Circuit held that where only possession of
property is at issue, summary proceedings may be appropriate.!! However, where ultimate rights to
title or ownership are at issue, summary proceedings are inappropriate.'? In Arizona Fuels, the Court
found that summary proceedings against third-party Tenneco were appropriate because Tenneco was
specifically named in and served with the order of appointment, had ample notice and opportunity to
contest the Receiver’s request, and the Receiver had jurisdiction over the funds at issue.!> However,
absent some evidence that the receiver has jurisdiction over the assets at issue, summary proceedings
cannot be justified.'* Here, the Receiver merely assumes jurisdiction exists over Ms. Dean and the
funds at issue, and therefore summary proceedings are proper.'> But the Receiver has not, and
cannot, establish jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at issue in light of the Receiver’s failure to

comply with § 754, and therefore a summary proceeding is not justified.!® The Receiver's claim that

11739 F.2d 455, 458-59 (9th Cir. 1984).

12 1d.; see also Am. Brake Shoe & Foundry Co. v. New York Railways Co., 10 F.2d 920 (Cal Ct. App. 1928)(holding that
areceiver must bring an ancillary plenary suite, rather than proceeding summarily, in proceedings to claim funds held by
third-party beneficiaries). Summary proceedings are only permissible against third-parties who are made a party to the
suit or become sufficiently involved in the receivership action, for example by intervening. /d. at 921.

13 Arizona Fuels Corp., 739 F.2d at 459.
14 SEC v. Ross, 504 F.3d 1130, 1146 (9th Cir. 2007)

15 See Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 20:6-19. But the Receiver’s reliance on SEC v. Wencke, 783 F.2d
829 (9th Cir. 1986) and SEC v. Hardy, 803 F.2d 1034 (9th Cir. 1986) are misplaced. In Wencke, the court held that the
alleged summary proceedings were akin to a plenary proceeding with all due process rights, discovery, trial, and
witnesses observed. Moreover, there was no allegation the Receiver failed to comply with § 754. In Hardy the SEC
brought a securities fraud case against the operators of a scheme to defraud investors in promissory notes and deeds of
trust, and the District Court appointed a Receiver. After the District Court had adopted a procedure for the distribution
of assents and a claims procedure, the Court set a claims deadline of March 1, 1982, with the Order that claims after that
date would be barred. The Court then extended the Claims deadline to March 22, 1982, and gave the required Notices.
After the March 22, 1982 deadline some Objectors filed Late Claims and others filed incomplete claims. In summary
proceedings, the Court adjudicated the late and incomplete claims and held they were not entitled to a late filing. The
Objectors and late Claimants argued that summary proceedings were inappropriate. The Ninth Circuit affirmed and ruled
that the summary proceedings were the appropriate means by which Late Claims and Objections could be adjudicated
and “the procedures used by the District court in this case were a reasonable and practicable attempt to administer the
receivership without depriving the creditors of fair notice and a reasonable opportunity to respond.” Id. at 1040. These
facts are inapplicable here, as this matter does not involve the distribution of funds pursuant to late or incomplete claims.

16 Id.; see also SEC v. Vision Comm ns, Inc., 74 F.3d 287, 289 (D.C. Cir. 1996)(expressly rejecting the exercise of in
personam jurisdiction over a party in a district outside the district of appointment because the receiver failed to comply
with the filing requirements of § 754.
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he seeks “orderly and efficient administration of the estate” does not overcome his failure to obtain
jurisdiction or provide due process rights to Ms. Dean and her five (5) non-party clients.!’

2. Arizona is the proper venue for plenary proceedings i.e. an interpleader
action.

The Receiver does not have jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at issue in the instant
action. Rather, Ms. Dean and the funds are at home in Arizona. The Arizona Rules of Professional
Conduct require that disputed funds be held in an attorney’s trust account, and an interpleader action
be filed to resolve conflicting demands for the funds.'® In this case, Ms. Dean has been placed in the
impossible position where compliance with the Receiver’s demands puts her at odds with her client
and could result in a violation of her ethical duties.!® Consequently, the only way to adjudicate the
competing ownership claims is through an Interpleader action in Arizona.?’

C. The Receiver Has Failed to Join Ms. Dean's Other Five (5) Clients.

Pursuant to the Retainer Agreement, Ms. Dean was retained to represent six (6) individuals
related to the Utah SEC subpoenas - Jeffrey Judd, Kennedy Judd, Khloe Judd, Jennifer Judd, Parker
Judd, and Preston Judd (collectively the “Judds”).?! Only Jeffrey Judd is named in the SEC

Complaint and Order Appointing Receiver/Order Amending Receivership Order.”? The Retainer

17 The Supreme Court has often repeated the proposition that administrative efficiency alone will not suffice to justify a
denial of due process. See, e.g., Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 656 (1971); Reed v. Reed, 404 U.S. 71 (1971); Bell v.
Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 540 (1971); Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 261 (1970); Carrington v. Rash, 380 U.S. 89, 96
(1965). In its Response, the SEC argues that Ms. Dean’s Motion for Leave “is nothing more than an attempt to end-run
the Court’s prior ruling regarding the use of presumed investor funds by Judd for attorneys’ fees. (See Dkt. No. 235.).
Dkt. 235 is an Order denying Oberheiden and Fabian VanCott’s motions to retain funds. These are distinctly different
from the pending motions and do not apply to Ms. Dean. Ms. Dean has the right to be heard on this issue.

18 Arizona Supreme Court Rules 42 E.R 1.5, 1.15, 43.

19 Employers Reinsurance Corp. v. GMAC Ins., 308 F. Supp. 2d 1010, 1016 (D. Ariz. 2004)(Arizona rules of professional
conduct provide that an attorney should segregate and hold disputed property and file interpleader where dispute cannot
in good faith be resolved amicably); In the Matter of A Member of the State Bar of Arizona, Jesus R. Romo Vejar, 2004
WL 5739531, at *3 (Sep. 2, 2004)(attorney's failure to file interpleader action of funds in trust account when faced with
competing demand on the money was sanctionable conduct).

20 Lee v. West Coast Life Insurance, 688 F 3d. 1004, 1009. (9" Cir. 2012)(interpleader prevents the stakeholder from
being obliged to determine at his/her peril which claimant has the better claim); United States v. High Tech. Prod., Inc.,
497 F.3d 637, 641 (6th Cir. 2007)(interpleader “affords a party who fears being exposed to the vexation of defending
multiple claims to a limited fund or property that is under his control a procedure to settle the controversy and satisfy his
obligation in a single proceeding.”) (quoting 7 Charles Alan Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure §§ 1704, 1714 (3d
ed. 2001)).

2l See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), Ex. B.
22 See Am Compl. (Dkt. 118); Order Appointing Receiver (Dkt. 88); Order Amending Receivership Order (Dkt. 207).
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was provided to be held in trust by Ms. Dean for her six (6) clients. “The court has no power to order
property in possession of a party to be delivered to the receiver if the party's possession is not in that
party's own right but is that of a bailee of a third person.”?* Notably, Ms. Dean’s non-party clients
have not been joined in this action despite being indispensable.?*

In this case, Ms. Dean holds property to which her five (5) non-party clients claim a right to
ownership. The Receiver cannot force Ms. Dean to part with those funds in the absence of her five
(5) non-party clients as indispensable parties. The Receiver’s refusal to recognize the property rights

t.2> Until the funds are withdrawn from Ms. Dean’s Trust Account,

of absent parties is without meri
Ms. Dean is a bailee of the funds. Ms. Dean and her five (5) non-party clients will be irreparably
injured by any turnover order, whether temporary or permanent, because Ms. Dean and her contract
attorneys will go unpaid for their services and the clients will now be responsible to issue additional

payment for the same work.

D. There is No Evidence the Retainer Funds are Tainted.

The Receiver and the SEC argue that the Retainer funds were tainted without providing any
support, despite bearing the burden to establish the funds at issue are a receivership asset and the

product of the alleged fraud.?® Even if this Court finds that Ms. Dean has the burden to establish her

2355 Cal. Jur. 3d Receivers § 47 (2022). “[T]he court has no jurisdiction to order the delivery, to the receiver, of property
in the possession of adverse claimants who are not parties to the action in which the receiver is appointed. Thus, if at the
time of appointment of a receiver, the property is in the possession of a plaintiff in a prior claim and delivery proceeding,
it is beyond the power of the court appointing the receiver, by its mere order, to compel the person in possession to
surrender it to the receiver. The claimant has a right to have his or her title determined in an appropriate action to which
he or she is a party and to the verdict of a jury or the findings of a court on issues framed for that purpose.” 55 Cal. Jur.
3d Receivers § 51 (2022).

24 Hall v. Club Corp. of Am., 33 F. App'x 873, 876 (9th Cir. 2002) (“It goes without saying that parties to a contract are
necessary ones.”); Brown v. Christman, 126 F.2d 625, 631-32 (D.C. Cir. 1942)(all persons having conflicting claims to
a particular fund are indispensable parties to its disposition and “A disposition of the funds, made without giving them
an opportunity to establish their claims, might be seriously prejudicial to their interests.”); Johnson v. Middleton, 175
F.2d 535, 537 (7th Cir. 1949) (indispensable parties under Rule 19 are those with conflicting claims to particular funds).

2 Stuparich Mfg. Co. v. Superior Court, 123 Cal. 290, 292 (1899) (the court had no jurisdiction to authorize receiver to
seize property claimed by nonparty as owner and had to bring separate action); First National Housing Trust Ltd. v.
Superior Court, 88 Cal. App. 292, 295 (1928) (court has no jurisdiction to order receiver to seize property that is claimed
as owner by a nonparty in possession of the property).

26 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt.275); SEC’s Response to Dean’s Motion for Leave (Dkt. 278), at 1:10-16. The

SEC’s Response to Dean’s Motion for Leave is essentially a joinder to the portions of the Receiver’s Omnibus Response

related to the request for interpleader. As such, Ms. Dean’s arguments made in support of her Motion for Leave, are also

made in response to the SEC’s Response. See Evans v. Robbins, 897 F.2d 966, 968 (8th Cir. 1990), citing Gorenz v.
(footnote continued)
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retainer was not obtained from the alleged Ponzi scheme, Ms. Dean has set forth sufficient evidence
in the Motion to Quash and her Certification.?’ Specifically, Ms. Dean and other attorney’s retained
by the Judds conducted due diligence regarding the source of the funds, including investigation by
former federal agents, compliance with the DOJ’s Asset Forfeiture Policy Manual, review of
financials, bank records, emails, text exchanges and other materials turned over in the investigation
into Jeffrey Judd, and the expert analysis of former federal agents.?® Ms. Dean also relied upon the
representations of her clients that the funds came from a family trust and were not the result of the
alleged Ponzi scheme.?® This information is sufficient to make a prima facie case that the funds are

not tainted. Notably, the Receiver completely disregards this discussion because it does not serve

1llinois Dept. of Agriculture, 653 F.2d 1179, 1184 (7th Cir. 1981) (emphasis added) (holding “[t]he burden of proof in
a turnover proceeding is at all times on the receiver or trustee; he must at least establish a prima facie case. After that,
the burden of explaining or going forward shifts to the other party, but the ultimate burden or risk of persuasion is upon
the receiver or trustee.”); see The receiver has the burden to establish the Retainer is a receivership asset. SEC v. Ross,
504 F.3d 1130, 1146 (9th Cir. 2007); also, Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 63-64, 92 L. Ed. 476, 68 S. Ct. 401 (1948).

Contrary to the Receiver’s position, Ms. Dean does not bear the burden to establish the source of the funds. The Receiver
relies on several inapplicable cases in support of this position. Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275). At 17:8-28.
FTC v. Digital Altitude, LLC, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 224949 (C. D. Cal. July 26, 2018) involved defendants seeking to
unfreeze funds for living expenses. Here, Ms. Dean was not subject to the freeze order and is not asking to unfreeze
anything. Rather, she is asking to retain those funds that were earned prior to appointment of the receiver, and her notice
of the same. SEC v. Rosenthal, 42 Fed. App’x 1 (2d Cir. 2011) applies solely to cases involving insider trading, not
Ponzi schemes like the instant case. This case also discussed the disgorgement by defendants and relief defendants. Ms.
Dean is neither. Cases cited in the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC regarding the burden of
proof are similarly inapplicable. (Dkt. 210), at 8:16-9:3, 10:8-17. SEC uses Santillo for the proposition that Ms. Dean
has the burden to “establish that the funds [s]he seeks to [retain] are untainted and that there are sufficient funds to satisfy
any disgorgement remedy that might be ordered in the event a violation is established.” SEC v. Santillo, No. 18-CV-5491
(JGK), 2018 WL 3392881, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 11, 2018). But Santillo sets forth the standard for a defendant to request
assets be unfrozen for living expenses, attorney’s fees etc. SEC v. Fujinaga, 2020 WL 3050713 at *3 (D. Nev. June 8,
2020) also deals with a defendant’s request to unfreeze assets to pay attorney’s fees after transferring $100,000 to an
attorney following an asset freeze and appointment of a receiver. Again, Ms. Dean is not the Defendant, and she is not
seeking to unfreeze assets. Rather, it is Ms. Dean’s position that the earned portion of her retainer is not a receivership
asset. Her fees were also earned for past services prior to the appointment of the Receiver — not future services such as
in Santillo. SEC v. Marino also deals with a defendant who transferred $100,000 to an attorney after an asset freeze and
requested the court unfreeze assets to be used in his defense. 29 Fed. Appx. 538, 541 (10th Cir. 2002) (quoting SEC v.
Quinn, 997 F.2d 287, 289 (7th Cir. 1993). Quinn, the case cited in Marino, supports Ms. Dean’s position that the burden
of proof rests with the receiver. In Quinn, the court requested that the SEC make a preliminary showing that Quinn’s
assets could be traced to fraud. Satisfied with the response, the court than invited the defendant to demonstrate that he
had fund that were not tainted. Quinn failed to do so.

27 Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at 8:3-21, Ex. D.
2 1d.
2 Id. See Ex. B, Decl. of Kamille Dean.
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his interests, and in doing so, fails to rebut this evidence. There is simply no basis before the Court
to find the funds were tainted, and therefore belong to the receivership estate.

II. CONCLUSION.

For the foregoing reasons, Non-Party Kamille Dean requests that this Honorable Court grant
her Motion to for Leave to File an Interpleader Action (Dkt. 259), and the Receiver’s Motion to
Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC (Dkt. 210) be denied.

DATED this 8" day of September 2022.

JONES LOVELOCK

By: _/s/Kimberley A. Hyson. Esq.
Nicole Lovelock, Esq. (11187)
Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq. (11611)
6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Tel: (702) 805-8450
Fax: (702) 805-8451

Attorneys for Kamille Dean
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 8" day of September 2022, a true and correct
copy of the foregoing NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION
FOR LEAVE TO FILE INTERPLEADER ACTION was served by electronically submitting
with the Clerk of the Court using the electronic system and serving all parties with an email-address
on record.

By /s/ Julie Linton
An Employee of JONES LOVELOCK
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EXHIBIT “A”

Arizona filing of Complaint and Appointment Order

EXHIBIT “A”
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1 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. section 754, receiver Geoff Winkler, appointed by the
2 [ United States District Court for the District of Nevada in the case entitled SEC v.
3 | Matthew Wade Beasley, et al., Case No. 2:22-cv-00612-JCM-EJY, hereby files true
4 || and correct copies of the following in this district:
5 Exhibit 1. Complaint; and
6 Exhibit 2.  Order Appointing Receiver.
7
8 [ Dated: August 4, 2022 ALLEN MATKINS LECK GAMBLE
MALLORY & NATSIS LLP
’ By:_ VA
10 JGSHUA A. DEL CASTILLO
1 Recemer GROFE WINEDER
12
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25
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ity et 5 NOTICE OF APPOINTMENT
4857-6708-0749.1 -2- OF RECEIVER
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Case No. 2:22-cv-0612-CDS-EJY

Plaintiff,
V. DECLARATON OF KAMILLE DEAN
(FILED IN CAMERA)
MATTHEW WADE BEASLEY et. al.
TIME: TBD
Defendants, DATE: TBD

THE JUDD IRREVOCABLE TRUST et. al,

PLACE: Courtroom 6B

Relief Defendants.

I Kamille Dean, declare and say:

. I previously provided a Declaration in this matter and incorporate said Declaration hereto for this

Reply as well.

. T'have been a licensed attorney since 2004 and have never had my fees contested or taken by the

federal, state or local government. I have worked on many high-profile federal matters, including

criminal matters.

. Tam always very careful to ensure that I do not take dirty money. I always do my due diligence and

work with other attorneys that do the same.

. T'have been of counsel attorney for Oberheiden P.C. for several years. Oberheiden referred Mr. Judd

and his family to me after the Judd’s received subpoenas from the SEC. Oberheiden assured me all

funds were legally obtained before I received the retainer.

. Oberheiden required Judd to sign a fee agreement with assurances that all funds given to Oberheiden

P.C. originate from lawful U.S. Sources. I was informed of this by Oberheiden before agreeing to

provide services to Judd and his family in response to the SEC subpoenas.

. Judd also assured me that all funds were legally obtained.

. T also spoke to Judd and his family members, including Preston and Jennifer Judd, who were also

served with subpoenas and were assured the funds were transferred to Attorney Mike Peters previous

to any alleged ponzi scheme allegations and the funds were not tainted.

1
MS. DEAN’S NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO QUASH RECEIVER’S CONTEMPT DEMANDS
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8. Neither Mr. Judd or any of his family members who retained me have been criminally charged with

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

any matter.

I oversaw two attorneys, including Phil Escolar and Maureen Jaroscak and two former special
agents, including Marie Kondzielski, a former FBI Special Agent (retired), and Maura Kelley, a FBI
Special Agent in reviewing all of Judd’s emails to respond to the SEC’s subpoena. I reviewed
summaries of all emails and read any notated attorney client privilege emails to prepare for
disclosure to the SEC in creating a privilege log.

In doing so, I never became aware of any information which indicated Mr. Judd or any of his family
members that retained me were part of any ponzi scheme.

During my initial review of the case, I also personally reviewed over 500,000 emails from Judd’s
email account. Nothing during my review indicated that Judd or any of his family members that
retained me were part of any ponzi scheme.

As a matter of standard policy and for many years of my practice of law, I also consulted the
Department of Justice Assets Forfeiture Manual The Forfeiture Manual (2021) to make sure that my
receipt of funds on March 30, 2022, was not improper and that it was within the standards of
attorneys who practice law in my area. I do this as a matter of standard practice whenever I receive
funds from a client no matter what the matter might be or how or why I represent clients. In the case
of my six (6) Clients and Attorney-Client Agreement signed on March 25, 2022, I had no notice any
of the funds were tainted, subject to forfeiture, or otherwise the product of illegality. This Manual is
a standard in the industry to follow when receiving attorneys’ fees from all clients, even when we
have no notice of impropriety.

The Manual emphasized the importance of “ensuring that current an accurate information on the
ownership of, and any encumbrances against, personal property.” Department of Justice, Assets
Forfeiture Manual, § D.3.a p. 10 (2021)). https://www.justice.gov/criminal-
afmls/file/839521/download. When information is not available immediately, the Manual requires
“this information must be complied and made available as soon as possible.” Id. When the assets
cannot be identified with ownership in the defendant, the seizing agency must “take immediate
action to terminate forfeiture of the asset. /d. p. 11,9 D.3.b.3.

When the funds were transferred to me on March 30, 2022, I had no information showing the funds
were tainted or illegal. I set about examining 500,000 emails and communications between my
clients, third parties, and attorneys in order to comply with the March 18, 2022, subpoenas which
had been issued from the SEC, and I conducted a privilege review for their documents. Two former

FBI Special Agents reviewed over two million emails and there was still no indication of tainted
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funds. At no time during this massive review of documents which included years of
communications between Judd, his attorney Michael Beasley and among third parties was there any
indication that any of the funds in my Trust Amount were tainted, illegal, or the product of unlawful
activity.

15. The Manual states that “Certain property may be release following federal seizure for forfeiture, but
prior to the filing of any claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 8.7" which includes “property belonging to
an innocent owner having an immediate right to possess.” Id. p. 14, J E.1. In my case, [ was an
innocent owner of the funds transferred. I gave full value for the $201,060 I earned as my fees prior
to June 4, 2022, when I learned of the Receiver’ existence.

16. The Forfeiture Manual states:

“Persons who acquired an interest in the property after the illegal conduct occurred can also defeat the
government’s proven forfeiture claim by establishing that they qualify as a bona fide purchaser for value
of the interest, and at the time they acquired the interest, they did not know and were reasonably without
cause to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture. See § 983(d)(3).... If, however, the likely
owner is not the perpetrator of, or knowing participant in, the underlying criminal activity, prosecutors
must take all reasonable steps, such as the use of special interrogatories under Rule G(6) of the
Supplemental Rules of Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions (Supplemental
Rules), before filing a civil forfeiture complaint to ascertain whether the likely owner may have a viable
“innocent owner” defense.” Id. p. 86 § D.2.a.

17. In my case, I met the standards of an innocent owner. I had no notice of any unlawful activity
associated with the funds. My Clients assured me there was no illegality or taint involved in the
funds, and the attorney who represented them on the ongoing SEC investigation also assured me that
they had verified the funds were lawful, that former FBI agents and IRS personnel they used as
experts had also verified the funds were law. I was an innocent owner with no notice of knowledge
of any taint in these funds prior to June 4, 2022.

18. The Manual states that an innocent owner will qualify as a BFP “who was reasonably without cause
to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture, if the likely owner acquired the property after
the criminal activity subjecting the property to forfeiture had been completed.” /d. The Manual
further states that “If a pre-filing investigation reveals that an owner with standing has a viable
innocent owner defense, prosecutors should refrain from proceeding with a forfeiture action against
that property.” Id. If there is an indictment, an attorney who holds funds belonging to the defendant
may lose their BFP status based on their learning form the indictment that the funds are the product
of illegal activity. Id. p. 96, 4 B.1 citing United States v. McCorkle, 321 F.3d 1292, 1294 n.2 (11th
Cir. 2003) (attorney may lose bona fide purchaser status as to advance fee received from client
“because the client is indicted and the attorney learns additional information about his client’s

guilt”). Under the Department of Justice Manual, the government may seize funds from an
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

attorney’s Trust Account or IOLTA (Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts).

The government utilizes the citation to the McCorkle case was of great importance to me because
that Court stated that where Attorney F. Lee Bailey had no knowledge of any illegality of funds
transferred to him from a potential criminal defendant, he was a Bona Fide Purchaser for value prior
to receive of knowledge or information the funds were tainted. Once he received such notice, he
would lose his BFP status.

In my case, I had no knowledge any of the funds were tainted or unlawful until June 4, 2022, when |
learned of the receiver. Even after June 4, 3033, I still have no notice or knowledge that the funds
are tainted and I have never seen any evidence of taint, illegality or the funds being the product of
unlawful activity.

I have also consulted the Department of Justice Attorney’s Fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual for
many years of practicing law for many different clients to determine if funds should be forfeited
from a Trust Account. In my case, [ met all of the Standards in the Department of Justice Attorney
Fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual and Department of Justice Assets Forfeiture Manual.

The Department of Justice Attorney Fees Forfeiture Guidelines state:

“The mere fact that an attorney has received a forfeitable asset as payment for legal fees by itself
does not provide reasonable grounds to believe the transfer was a fraudulent or sham transaction.
There must be reasonable cause to believe the asset was transferred for the purpose of impeding or
defeating the government's ability to forfeit it. Generally, there should be some proof that a scheme
existed to maintain the client's interest in the asset or ability to use it to his/her benefit. This may be
shown, for example, by proof that the value of services actually rendered was disproportionately low
compared to the value of the asset transferred and that there was agreement by the attorney to
transfer the asset or some portion of it back to the client. In other situations there may be evidence
that the attorney agreed to transfer the asset to another third party for the benefit of the client or to an
account or corporation that is controlled by the client. The evidence, however, need not establish that
the attorney was a participant in the criminal activity giving rise to the forfeiture or that he/she
otherwise violated any law.” Department of Justice, Attorney fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual, ¢
9-120.102 (2022) https://www.justice.gov/jm/jm-9-120000-attorney-fee-forfeiture-guidel.

In my case the transfer was not fraudulent or sham and was done before any claims were asserted

against one (1) of my clients. The funds were immediately utilized on an emergency basis to comply|
to civil subpoenas issued by the SEC on March 18, 2022, prior to any lawsuit being filed by the

SEC, and clearly before I received notice of the existence of the Receiver on June 4, 2022. There
was no scheme to maintain the client’s interest in the asset and the services rendered were not
disproportionate in caparison to the assets transferred. The services were rendered on an emergency
basis by the SEC itself who demanded immediate compliance with its subpoenas.

The Justice Department goes on to state:

“The principal issue to be addressed in the application of these guidelines is what constitutes "actual
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25.

26.

27.

28.

knowledge" or "reasonable cause to know" that an asset is subject to forfeiture "at the time of the
transfer." This issue must be resolved on a case-by-case basis. However, the following principles
shall be applied in determining whether the prerequisite of actual knowledge or reasonable cause to
know exists in a particular case.” Department of Justice, Attorney fees Forfeiture Guidelines
Manual, 4 9-120.105 (2022).

In my case I had no actual knowledge or reasonable cause to know that the asset I received on March

30, 2022, for which I was already providing emergency work as of March 25, 2022, was subject to
forfeiture.

I did not know of the existence of the Receiver’s claim until June 4, 2022, and I had a good faith
belief as a Bona Fire Purchaser and Seller of Services without notice that these funds were untainted
and not involved in criminality.

Under the Department of Justice guidelines, I had every right to take, receive, and utilize the $250,00
which was in my Trust Account of which I used $201,060 before I ever heard of the Receiver or his
claims.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Arizona the foregoing is true and
correct.

Executed this 8" day of September, 2022, at Phoenix, Arizona.

e

_
Kamille Dean
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